COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

GENARRO D. SHUMPERT A/K/A

JUN 11 2007

GENARRO SHUMPERT,

OFFICE OF THE CLERK
SUPREME COURT
COURT OF APPEALS

Appellant,

v.

NO. 2006-CP-02164-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI,

Appellee,

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE JURY COMPOSITION, THUS, ALLOWING PLEA TO BE COERCED AND INVOLUNTARY IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS OF LAW DUE TO THE MISREPRESENTATIONS COUNSEL AND THE COURT AND WHETHER TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD HAVE RECUSED HIMSELF.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about February 15, 2004, defendant Genarro Shumpert was arrested and charged with Kidnapping 3 counts, Aggravated Assault. 1 Count, burglary and larceny of a dwelling 1 count, Carjacking 1 count and armed robbery 3 counts. (Indictment c.p. 14-19). A jury trial was commenced on February 22, 2005, in which an all white jury was empanelled. However, after the testimony of two(2) of the State's witness, Debbie and Jamie Malone, the trial was interrupted and the defendant entered into a plea agreement in which for certain considerations, defendant agreed to testify for the State at the jury trial of his co-defendant Kenneth Lee Taylor.

Within the statutory period for filing defendant filed his motion for post-conviction collateral relief pursuant to M.C.A. 99-39-1 et seq. (C.p. 2-13). Said motion was dismissed on December 15, 2006. (C.p. 54-55).

With liberal application of the "prison mailbox rule" defendant asserts the present appeal is timely.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A review of the record will show that on February 12, 2004, there was a home invasion committed at the residence of Thomas Malone and family (Debbie and Jamie) for the purpose of committing a burglary. During the alleged invasion certain property of the victims were taken, the victims allegedly kidnapped, assaulted, their vehicle stolen and the victims robbed at gun point; all of which forms the basis for which the defendant stands convicted.

On February 15, 2004, a jury was empanelled and trial of the defendant was commenced, however, after testimony of two (2) of the State's witness (Debbie and Jamie), trial was interrupted and a plea agreement were entered into by the defendant.

As part of the plea agreement defendant agreed to testify for the State in the trial of co-defendant Kenneth Lee Taylor, subsequently, sentencing of the defendant were postponed until until August 5, 2005.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

It is Defendant's contention that trial Counsel was ineffective in his failure to file certain motions, to object to the composition of the jury and the empanelling of an all white jury. That counsel's performance permitted the Court to deny the Defendant his rights to Due Process of Law therefore, prejudicing the defense of the defendant.

Defendant entered into a plea agreement when it became clear that Counsel's inability to perform and function as counsel for the defendant as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. Therefore, the resulting plea became the product of coercion and was not made knowingly, intelligently and voluntarily.

ARGUMENT

I.

WHETHER DEFENSE COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE
WHEN COUNSEL FAILED TO OBJECT TO THE
THUS, ALLEGED PLEA TO BE COERCED AND
INVOLUNTARY IN VIOLATION OF DUE PROCESS
OF LAW DUE TO THE MISREPRESENTATION
COUNSEL AND THE COURT AND WHETHER
TRIAL JUDGE SHOULD HAVE RECUSED HIMSELF.

A criminal defendant is entitled to the effective assistance of counsel not only at trial, but at all critical stages. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Alf Mann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1970); U.S. Const. Amend. VI, XIV. If the attorney makes serious mistakes which could affect the verdict, reversal is required even if the attorney was generally competent.

Under Strickland, supra, the United States Supreme Court adopted a two-prong test for determining whether counsel was ineffective. First, was counsel's performance deficient and Second, whether the deficient performance prejudiced the defense.

Factually this case is straightforward. Defendant Benarro Shumpert was charged with and pled guilty to 3 counts of Kidnapping, 1 count of burglary and larceny of a dwelling, 1 count of carjacking and 3 counts of armed robbery.

Had it not been for the composition of the jury pool, the empanelled jury itself and the implied misleading by counsel and the court that cooperation with law enforcement and testifying for the State in the trial of co-defendant, Kenneth Lee Taylor would result in leniency from the Court, defendant would not have pled guilty. (C.p. 45).

The question presented is whether or not the plea of guilty was involuntary or, in the alternative, was based on the inadequate assistance of counsel.

The law is equally clear. An involuntary plea is unconstitutional. Marchibroda v. United States, 386 U.S. 487 (1962). Similar to the ruling in Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1973), this Court has also ruled that a plea induced by misrepresentation of defense counsel and prosecutor may be involuntary. Courtney v. State, 704 So.2d 1352 (Miss. 1997).

Where a defendant's plea of guilty is coerced or otherwise involuntary, any judgment of conviction

entered thereon is Subject to collateral attack. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S.Ct. 1709, 23 L.Ed.2d 274 (1969); Myers v. State, 538 So.2d 174 (1991) (quoting Boyking, supra). To be enforceable, a guilty plea must emanate from accused's informed consent. See generally Vittitoe v. State, 556 So.2d 1062 (Miss. 1990). The question whether a plea of guilty was voluntary and knowing one necessarily involves issues of facts.

Where defense counsel advises the defendant not to disclose to Court implied promises of a guilty plea, that plea may be attacked.

If the Court finds the guilty plea entered in this case by the defendant were involuntary as defined by existing law, then not only the Defendant's sentences, but also his guilty pleas, must be vacated. See Stevenson v. State, 674 So.2d 501, 506 (Miss. 1996); Patterson v. State, 660 So.2d 966, 969 (Miss. 1995).

The implied incentive by the Court for the defendant's cooperation with the State in providing testimony against co-defendant, Kenneth Lee Taylor (C.p. 23) was indicative of the Court's intention to take into consideration defendant's cooperation when it postponed sentencing of defendant until after the trial of Mr. Taylor. This allegation, in light of other

circumstances of this case, raised the serious constitutional question whether the guilty plea was knowing and involuntarily made. See Santobello v. New York, 404 U.S. 257, 92 S.Ct. 495, 30 L.Ed.2d 427 (1971); Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 25 L.Ed.2d 74 (1970).

This conclusion by the Court that a plea may be involuntary, if it is the result of misrepresentation made by defense counsel as to an implied promise by the judge or prosecutor, is the same as that of decisions by federal courts. United States ex rel. Thurman v. Mancusi, 275 F.Supp. 568 (S.D. N.Y. 1967); Mosher v. LaValle, 351 F.Supp. 1101 (S.D. N.Y. 1972), affirmed 491 F.2d 1346 (1974); United States ex rel. Oliver v. Vicent, 498 F.2d 340 (2nd Cir. 1974); Tarnabine v. Warden of Louisiana State Penitentiary, 331 F.Supp. 975 (E.D. La. 1971).

It is also clear that a defendant's acknowledgment of voluntariness at his plea proceedings cannot be utilized on review as conclusive proof that the plea was in fact voluntary. Fontaine v. United States, 411 U.S. 213 (1973).

See Rhinehart v. Brewer, 561 F.2d 126 (8th Cir. 1977) for a discussion of the totality of circumstances test of determining whether or not a plea of guilty

was not voluntary. The Court also discussed the question of competence of counsel. It held counsel was inadequate for, inter alia, his failure to properly inform defendant of the consequences of his plea of guilty. Akin to *Rhinehart, supra*, is the instantaneous decision of counsel to discontinue trial and allow defendant to plead guilty absent the benefit of securing a favorable position for defendant's cooperation and testimony.

Therefore, the plea of guilty in this case was based on misrepresentation of counsel and court was involuntary. The problem being implied comments from the Court and silence on the matter by the State.

An accused in a criminal prosecution is entitled to the effective assistance of counsel. Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258 (1973). A guilty plea which is produced as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel is unconstitutional. *Henderson, supra*; *Mosher, supra*.

A duty of defense counsel to truthfully advise his client is basic to the adversary system. The American Bar Association Standards Relating to the Administration of Criminal Justice have applicable sections. The standards relating to the plea of guilty include the following:

"3.2 Relationship between defense counsel and client.

"(a) Defense counsel should conclude a plea agreement only with the consent of the defendant, and should ensure that the decision whether to enter a plea of guilty or *nolo contendere* is ultimately made by the defendant.

"(b) To aid the defendant in reaching a decision, defense counsel, after appropriate investigation should advise the defendant of the alternatives available and of considerations deemed important by him or the defendant in reaching the decision." (Emphasis added.)

The standard is reinforced by Section 6.2 of the standards relating to the defense function which states:

6.2 Conduct of Discussions.

"(a) In conducting discussions with the prosecutor the lawyer should keep the accused advised of the developments at all times and all proposals made by the prosecutor should be communicated

promptly to the accused."

Thus, it is clear that the defense counsel has a duty to truthfully advise the defendant of the position adopted by the prosecutor and the Court denied Defendant of the effective assistance of counsel.

Whether the Constitutional deprivation is characterized as a denial of Due Process of Law because of guilty plea was involuntary, or inadequate assistance of counsel which denied Defendant Due Process of Law, the questions are so closely related that the authorities discussed them together. See, e.g. Mosher v. LaValle, 491 F.2d 1346 (2nd Cir. 1974).

Though the test for actual or apparent bias is applied consistently, Circuit Courts will frequently phrase it differently. See, e.g. U.S. v. Ayala, 289 F.3d 16, 27 (1st Cir. 2002) (whether "the facts asserted provide what an objective, knowledgeable member of the public would find to be reasonable basis for doubting the judges impartiality," (quoting In re Boston's Children First, 244 F.3d 164, 167 (1st Cir. 2001)). The fact that trial judge had frequent visits to the establishment of the victims presents a question of intimate association thus, rendering his ability to rule impartial impossible.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons as stated above, the decision of the trial court Dismissing Motion For Post-Conviction Collateral Relief should be vacated in the interest of justice and remanded back to trial court for New Trial or in the alternative, Evidentiary Hearing.