IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

GENARRO D. SHUMPERT

VS.

APPELLANT

FILED

SEP 1 3 2007

NO. 2006-CP-2164

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LAURA H. TEDDER SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

PROPOSITION ONE Shumpert waived his right to trial and his right to appeal any errors in the aborted trial proceedings held prior to his guilty plea. Further, he is unable to meet the burden of showing he received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial or than he suffered any prejudice and the trial court was correct in denying his motion for post conviction relief.

PROPOSITION TWO Shumpert has waived his right to object to the trial court's denial of recusal. Further, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in declining to recuse himself.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about April 16th of 2004 the Lee County Grand Jury returned indictments against the Appellant, Genarro Shumpert and Kenneth Lee Traylor for events occurring February 12, 2004. Shumpert and Traylor were charged with three counts of kidnapping, one count of aggravated assault, one count of burglary of a dwelling, one count of armed car jacking, three counts of armed robbery. There were three victims to the crime. According to the record at the sentencing hearing, Shumpert and Traylor went to the victims' home, captured them, abused them, stole their clothes and

abandoned them naked in a field.

Shumpert initially went to trial, a jury was selected and the State put on two witnesses. Shumpert then determined to plead guilty to all charges. At the plea hearing on February 22, 2005, he waived his right to trial and made an open plea with a recommendation from the prosecutor. Shumpert also agreed to testify in Traylor's trial. The trial court accepted Shumpert guilty plea to each of the nine charges finding that Shumpert knowingly, understandingly, freely and voluntarily entered each of the pleas of guilty. The court also made a finding that there was a factual basis for each guilty plea.

On September 21, 2005, Shumpert was sentenced to as follows:

Count I	30 years
Count II	30 years
Count III	30 years
Count IV	20 years
Count V	25 years
Count VI	30 years
Count VII	40 years
Count VIII	40 years
Count IX	40 years

(T. 51)

All sentences were to run consecutively and the Trial Court imposed the 40 years in each of those sentences. (T. 51)

On August 31, 2006, Shumpert filed his Motion for Post-Conviction Collateral Relief. The trial court denied same on December 27, 2006. The instant appeal ensued.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Shumpert argues that his plea was involuntary or coerced because of ineffective assistance of counsel during his trial. Specifically he argues that his attorney rendered ineffective assistance by failing to object to an all white jury. Shumpert waived his rights to object to any errors at trial when he plead guilty. Thus, this assignment of error is without merit and the Trial Court's order denying Shumpert's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief should be upheld. Further, even address this issue on its merits, Shumpert is unable to meet the burden of showing he received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial and the trial court was correct in dismissing his motion for post conviction relief. Shumpert does not submit any affidavits to support his contentions and his request for relief cannot stand based on his bare allegations. Defendants are not entitled to a jury of a particular racial composition. Shumpert cannot show that he has been in anyway prejudiced by his attorney's alleged failure to object to an all white jury since Shumpert pled guilty.

Shumpert has waived his right to object to the trial court's denial of recusal. He waived all rights to trial and all objections and direct appeals to the aborted trial proceedings that occurred before his guilty plea. His accusation that the trial judge ate at the victim's restaurant is not sufficient to cause a reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances to harbor doubts about the judges' impartiality. Further, it is unsupported in the record.¹

¹ The file reflects that Shumpert filed several motions with this Court to have the partial trial transcript included in the record. This Court's orders of May 16th in response to those motions held that the "[r]ecord has been filed in this appeal and contains the transcript of the criminal proceedings." The motions were dismissed as moot. The record forwarded to the State for purposes of this appeal does not appear to contain the transcript of the aborted trial proceedings that occurred prior to Shumpert's guilty plea. It is the State's position that Shumpert was not entitled to that record pursuant to *Lawrence v. State*, 2007 WL 1532556 (Miss. App. 2007) which held that the trial court acted within its discretion in denying the defendant's motion for production the transcript of his partial trial. Further, In *Fleming v. State*, 533 So.2d 505, 506 (Miss. 1989) , the court stated that where a prisoner has filed a proper motion pursuant to the Uniform Post Conviction Collateral Relief Act, and who motion has withstood summary dismissal under Section 99-39-11(2), then that individual may be entitled to trial transcripts and other relevant documents under the discover provision in section 99-39-15, upon good cause shown and under the discretion of the lower court. *Fleming*, 553 So.2d at. 506. Shumpert's motion failed to withstand summary dismissal at the trial court level, thus he is not entitled to an expanded record.

ARGUMENT

PROPOSITION ONE Shumpert is unable to meet the burden of showing he received ineffective assistance of counsel at trial and the trial court was correct in dismissing his motion for post conviction relief.

Shumpert alleges that he was denied ineffective assistance counsel. To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Shumpert bears the burden of showing that there were deficiencies in his counsel's performance and that the deficiences prejudiced him. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-96, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). There is a strong presumption that counsel's performance was within a wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Moody v. State, 644 So.2d 451, 456 (Miss. 1994). Shumpert alleges that he was prejudiced by his attorney not objecting "to an all white jury." Shumpert plead guilty. There is no merit to claim based on a trial to which he waived his rights. Further, Shumpert cannot make a valid claim for ineffective assistance of counsel if the only proof he has concerning deficient performance is his own statement. *Vielee v. State*, 653 So.2d 920, 922 (Miss. 1995). It is not ineffective assistance of counsel for an attorney to advice his client that he recommends a guilty plea over proceeding to trial if it is his reasoned opinion that there is little chance of success at trial.

The record "clearly belies" the allegations made in Shumpert's motion for post-conviction relief and there is not merit to his claims. Shumpert has raised no meritorious issue in his motion for post conviction relief that would overcome his own sworn statements during the guilty plea, as reflected in the transcript.

The standard of review pertaining to the voluntariness of guilty pleas is well settled: "this Court will not set aside findings of a trial court sitting without a jury unless such findings are clearly erroneous." *Weatherspoon v. State*, 736 So.2d 419, 421 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). The burden of proving that a guilty plea is involuntary is on the defendant and must be proven by a preponderance

of the evidence. *Id.* at 422. A plea is considered voluntary and intelligent if the defendant is advised about the nature of the charge against him and the consequences of the entry of the plea. *Alexander v. State*, 605 So.2d 1170, 1172 (Miss. 1992). The trial court questioned Shumpert thoroughly regarding his understanding of the charges against him, his constitutional rights, and the effects of the guilty plea. He also signed a petition to plead guilty.

Shumpert now asserts that he was coerced into pleading guilty due to "the implied incentive by the Court for the defendant's cooperation with the State in providing testimony against codefendant Kenneth Lee Traylor". The record, however, reflects that Shumpert made an open plea with no plea bargain agreement. There was no agreed recommendation for sentencing, however, the State made a recommendation for sentencing on the record, as follows:

> As to Count I, the kidnapping, we recommend that this defendant be given a term of 30 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to Count II, kidnapping, we request, recommend that he be given a term of 30 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to Count III, we recommend that he be given a term of 30 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to Count IV, the aggravated assault, we recommend that he be given a term of 20 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to Count V, the burglary and larceny of the building, we recommend that he be given a term of 25 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to the car jacking, Count VI, we recommend that he be given a term of 30 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to the armed robber, Count VII, we recommend that he be given a term of 45 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. As to Count VIII, armed robbery, we recommend that he be given a sentence of 45 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. And, as to Count IX, we recommend that he be, another armed robbery, we recommend that he be given 45 years to serve with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. My calculations are that's a total or 285 years if run consecutively or concurrently, Your Honor.

> For a little background in this case, Your Honor, there is, as you've heard and can see on the indictment, an indictment against codefendant Kenneth Traylor. In Mr. Shumpert's confession, he not

only implicated himself, but he implicated and told Mr. Traylor's part in these crimes. Without a case against Traylor, we feel like we do not have to have Mr. Shumpert's testimony to convict him. However, if he should agree and testify truthfully according to his statement as to the events here, we would ask the Court to take that into consideration in the sentences in this case as to whether or not they run consecutively or whether or not some of them run concurrently or if some of the sentences are suspended or not. But we still feel like he deserves a heavy sentence, at least in the term of a great number of years to serve for the crimes which he has committed. (T. 40-42)

The Trial Court then conducted an examination as follows:

- Q. Mr. Shumpert, do you understand that the State has made a recommendation, and I understand that that is not part of any plea bargain. The State is telling me what they would like me to do with you. Did you expect the state to make any recommendation that might in any way be considered favorable to you?
- A. At some point in time, yes, sir.
- Q. You think they may do that. You heard what the District Attorney says. You heard that.
- A. Somewhere down the line, yes, sir.
- Q. All right. You understand that I am not bound by what they are recommending for you, and I have a free reign to impose the maximum sentence in every one of these charges, whatever they might be.

A.

- Q. Do you understand that?
- A. Yes, sir, I understand.
- Q. Now, do you understand that anything that I might have said is not any indication that I'm going to do anything in particular; that I'm going to be lenient or harsh or whatever? Do you understand that?
- A. Yes, sir, I understand.
- Q. All right. Has anyone put any pressure on you, forced you in anyway or told you that you had to plead guilty to these charges.
- A. Yes, sir.

(T. 42, 43)

Shumpert's argument that he was induced to plead guilty by a promise of leniency if he

would testify against his co-defendant, Kenneth Lee Traylor, is clearly contradicted by his testimony

on the record that he understood that there was no plea bargain and that the Trial Court could accept the State's recommendation or not. The Trial Court clearly iterated that there was no promise of leniency in exchange for Shumpert's testimony against Traylor.

In *Lawrence v. State*, 2007 WL 1532556 (Miss. App. 2007) the defendant was unable to show that his defense counsel rendered ineffective assistance, even though the defendant claimed that counsel told him that if he entered a guilty plea to murder he would get a sentence of twenty years. The Court in *Lawrence* stated:

The test for ineffective assistance of counsel is well known and requires a showing of deficiency in the performance of counsel and prejudice to the defendant. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-96, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); Stringer v. State, 454 So.2d 468, 476-77 (Miss.1984). To bring a successful claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, pursuant to the court's ruling in Strickland, the defendant must prove that his attorney's overall performance was deficient and that this deficiency deprived him of a fair trial. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689; Moore v. State, 676 So.2d 244, 246 (Miss.1996) (citing Perkins v. State, 487 So.2d 791, 793 (Miss.1986)). We must be mindful of the "strong but rebuttable presumption that an attorney's performance falls within a wide range of reasonable professional assistance and that the decisions made by trial counsel are strategic." Covington v. State, 909 So.2d 160, 162 (Miss.Ct.App.2005) (quoting Stevenson v. State, 798 So.2d 599, 602 (Miss.Ct.App.2001)). To overcome this presumption, the defendant must demonstrate "that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694; Woodson v. State, 845 So.2d 740, 742(¶ 9) (Miss.Ct.App.2003).

Lawrence asserts that were it not for counsel's recommendation, Lawrence would have continued with the trial. There is nothing in the record to support this contention. Furthermore, there is ample evidence to support the lower court's finding that Lawrence knew and understood that by entering a plea of guilty to the charge of murder there was but one sentence the court could impose, that being a term of life imprisonment. Lawrence attested on his petition to enter his guilty plea that he knew and understood the consequences of entering such plea, as well as testifying in open court to the same. Solemn declarations in open court by the defendant carry a strong presumption of verity. Roland v. State, 666 So.2d 747, 750 (Miss.1995) (citing Baker v. State, 358 So.2d 401, 403 (Miss.1978)).

Further, Shumpert has provided no evidence of his own to support this allegation. He has failed to meet his statutory burden of proof required to establish a prima facie showing. Shumpert is required to show that his counsel's performance was deficient and that the defendant was prejudiced by his counsel's mistake. His own sworn testimony shows otherwise. Since Shumpert cannot show deficient performance, this issue is without merit.

Shumpert also argues that his counsel's alleged deficiencies during the trial forced him to plead guilty. Specifically, he alleges that he was prejudiced by his counsel's failure to object to an all white jury. However, Shumpert clearly understood that in pleading guilty, he was waiving his right to appeal any errors at trial. The record contains the following testimony by Shumpert:

- Q. Do you understand that if you continue with the trial of your case and the jury found you guilty or convicted you of all or any number of the charges in this case, you would have the right to appeal any conviction or convictions to the Supreme Court of this State?
- A. Yes, Sir.
- Q. Do you understand that if you enter pleas of guilty here today and I accept those pleas, you will have not righ to appeal the conviction in this case?
- A. Yes, Sir.
- (T. 30)

Shumpert has therefore waived his right to appeal any alleged errors in the trial proceedings that took place prior to his guilty plea. Had Shumpert continued with trial and been convicted, he would have had the right to a direct appeal in which he could have raised this issues of ineffective assistance of counsel and a challenge to the composition of the jury. However, that is not the case, and this issue is without merit.

Even if Shumpert had not waived the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel as to the trial proceedings prior to his guilty plea, he would not be able to meet the criteria set out in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct.2025, 80 Led.2d 674 (1984). To prove ineffective assistance of counsel, Shumpert must demonstrate that his counsel's performance was deficient and that this deficiency prejudiced his defense. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct.2025, 80 Led.2d 674 (1984). Shumpert must overcome a strong presumption that his counsel rendered adequate assistance. Id. At 689. To show prejudice, Shumpert must show that there is a reasonable probability that but for his counsel's unprofessional errors, the outcome would have been different. *Woodson v. State*, 845 So.2d 740, 742 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

Shumpert cannot overcome the strong presumption that his attorney rendered adequate assistance. Shumpert was not entitled to a jury of any particular racial composition and therefore cannot show that his counsel was deficient in failing to object to an all-white jury. Defendants are not entitled to a jury of any particular composition, *Le v. State*, 913 So.2d 913 (Miss. 2005) [citations omitted]. An all white jury is not per se prejudicial. The test of fairness regarding a jury's composition is the "fair cross-section requirement. The fair cross section requirement is not violated merely because an all-white jury is not representative of the black community in a certain area. Yarborough v. State, 911 So.2d 951 (Miss. 2005) A defendant is not entitled to a given percentage of jury members of his own race. *Gathings v. State*, 822 So.2d 266 (Miss. 2002). Shumpert objects only to the make-up of the jury and makes no challenge to the method by which the jury was chosen.

Further, since Shumpert did not exercise his right to trial by jury all the way to its conclusion, he is unable to demonstrate that any alleged deficiency in his counsel's performance prejudiced him in any way. He cannot show any proof that the his counsel's failure to object to the jury's composition affected his right to a fair trial when no trial occurred and no verdict was reached. He cannot show any proof that a different result would have occurred.

<u>PROPOSITION TWO</u> Shumpert has waived his right to object to the trial court's denial of recusal. Further, the trial court did not abuse his discretion in not recusing himself from Shumpert's trial

Shumpert argues that the judge should have recused himself prior to trial "due to the personal relationship he had with [the] victims by eatting (sic) at there (sic) establishment." There is nothing in the record provided to counsel for the State of Mississippi in this cause to show that the trial court judge had any relationship with the victims in this case. However, assuming *arguendo*, hat the trial court did eat in a restaurant owned by the victims, that is not enough to show that the judge abused his discretion in not abusing himself.

Further, this issue was apparently raised during the trial which was aborted when Shumpert made the decision to plead guilty. Shumpert has waived all his rights to appeal any aspect of that trial as demonstrated by the record in the plea hearing. Therefore, he has waived his right to appeal the issue of recusal.

The decision to recuse or not to recuse is one left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, so long as he applies the correct legal standards and is consistent in the application.

On review of a denial of a motion to recuse, this Court "will not order recusal unless the decision of the trial judge is found to be an abuse of discretion." URCCR Rule 1.15; *Hathcock v. S. Farm Bureau Cas. Ins. Co.*, 912 So.2d 844, 847 (iss.2005). "The decision to recuse or not to recuse is one left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, so long as he applies the correct legal standards and is consistent in the application." *Tubwell v. Grant*, 760 So.2d 687, 689 (Miss.2000). When a judge is not disqualified under the constitutional or statutory provisions, the decision is left up to each individual judge and is subject to review only in a case of manifest abuse of discretion. Id.

When reviewing whether a judge should have recused himself, this Court uses an objective test: "A judge is required to disqualify himself if a reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances, would harbor doubts about his impartiality." King v. State, 821 So.2d 864, 868 (Miss. Ct. App.2002). The challenger has to overcome the presumption "that a judge, sworn to administer impartial justice, is qualified and unbiased." Id. This presumption may only be overcome by evidence which produces a reasonable doubt about the validity of the presumption. Bredemeier v. Jackson, 689 So.2d 770, 774 (Miss.1997).

The accusation that the trial judge ate at the victim's restaurant is not sufficient to cause a reasonable person, knowing all the circumstances to harbor doubts about the judges' impartiality.

CONCLUSION

The State respectfully submits that Shumpert's arguments are without merit. Accordingly, the trial court's dismissal of Shumpert's Motion for Post Conviction Collateral Relief should be affirmed.